Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 1 of 53

FILED 11-08-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2023AP2020-OA

TONY EVERS, GOVERNOR OF
WISCONSIN, DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL
RESOURCES, BOARD OF REGENTS OF
THE UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN
SYSTEM, DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, and
MARRIAGE AND FAMILY THERAPY
BOARD PROFESSIONAL COUNSELING,
and SOCIAL WORK EXAMINING BOARD,

Petitioners,

GATHERING WATERS, INC.,

Intervenor-Petitioner,

v.

INTRODUCTION

Like the Knowles-Nelson Stewardship Program veto invalidated in *Evers v. Marklein*, 2024 WI 31, 412 Wis. 2d 525, 8 N.W.3d 395 ("*Evers I*"), this case involves another effort by the Legislature to control the executive branch through legislative committee vetoes. Here, the Legislature has empowered the Joint Committee for Review of Administrative Rules (JCRAR) to veto administrative rules proposed and promulgated by executive agencies. Just as in *Evers I*, that legislative veto violates the Wisconsin Constitution.

JCRAR's vetoes of two important rules illustrate the problem. JCRAR indefinitely blocked a rule of the Department of Safety and Professional Services updating Wisconsin's commercial building standards, a veto that will last forever, unless a bill is enacted allowing the rule. And JCRAR "temporarily" vetoed a rule updating professional ethics standards for therapists and social workers to define therapy techniques seeking to change a person's sexual orientation or gender identity (often called "conversion therapy") as unethical. That "temporary" veto lasted roughly three-and-a-half years—without the Legislature's passing a bill to support it.

JCRAR's authority to veto administrative rules like this is facially unconstitutional, for two independent reasons.

First, such vetoes violate constitutional bicameralism and presentment requirements. When the legislative branch alters the legal rights and duties of others, it must pass a bill through both houses and present it to the Governor. JCRAR's vetoes have that exact effect, since they alter the legal rights and duties of those outside the legislative branch. Even *Martinez v. DILHR*, 165 Wis. 2d 687, 478 N.W.2d 582 (1992), recognized as much. JCRAR's "indefinite" vetoes, which are never accompanied by constitutional lawmaking procedures, are unconstitutional even under *Martinez*. As to JCRAR's

Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 14 of 53

"temporary" vetoes, *Martinez* erred by holding that such vetoes are constitutionally permissible, and its unsound analysis, which excused departures from lawmaking procedures, should be overruled.

Second, JCRAR's vetoes intrude on executive authority. When the Legislature enacts a statute that grants rulemaking authority to an executive agency, the agency exercises core executive power in carrying out that statute. JCRAR's ability to block this core law-execution power is invalid.

Even if rulemaking were instead viewed as a shared power, the Legislature still cannot act through a committee outside its lawmaking function, and it cannot block the executive branch from acting. That is exactly what JCRAR's vetoes do.

If this Court declines to facially invalidate JCRAR's rulemaking vetoes, it should still hold that they were unconstitutional as applied to the rules at issue here. Under any test, blocking the building code rule indefinitely and the conversion therapy rule for three-and-a-half years goes too far.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Do Wis. §§ Stat. 227.19(5)(c), (d), (dm), 227.26(2)(d) and (im) violate bicameralism and and presentment and the separation of powers by allowing JCRAR to veto rules promulgated by executive branch agencies, or at least those from the Department of Safety and Professional Services and its attached Marriage And Family Therapy, Professional Counseling, and Social Work Examining Board (the "Board"), relating to commercial building standards and ethics standards for social workers, marriage and family therapists, and professional counselors?

Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 15 of 53

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. JCRAR has multiple rulemaking veto powers.

Before a proposed administrative rule leaves the executive branch, it must travel through a lengthy promulgation process, including publishing a scope statement and receiving the Governor's approval of it (Wis. Stat. § 227.135); drafting the rule's text (Wis. Stat. § 227.14); preparing an economic impact analysis (Wis. Stat. § 227.137); submitting materials to Legislative Council staff, who may recommend changes (Wis. Stat. § 227.15); holding a public hearing on the proposed rule (Wis. Stat. § 227.16); and submitting the rule to the Governor for approval or rejection (Wis. Stat. § 227.185).

But even once an executive branch agency completes all these steps, it cannot promulgate the rule until and unless JCRAR approves it. And even after a rule is promulgated, JCRAR can suspend it an unlimited number of times.

A. JCRAR may temporarily or indefinitely "object" to the promulgation of a proposed rule under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(c), (d), and (dm).

After the Governor approves a proposed rule under Wis. Stat. § 227.185, the rule does not go into effect. Instead, it travels to the legislative branch and stops at a standing committee that reviews the rule and recommends whether the proposed rule be approved or vetoed. See Wis. Stat. § 227.19(2), (4). The rule then travels to JCRAR, a ten-person legislative committee. JCRAR's members are chosen by legislative leaders from each political party in both houses, based on the party's number of representatives in each house. Wis. Stat. § 13.56. Membership is not determined by any geographic or population requirements.

Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 16 of 53

Until JCRAR acts on the standing committee's recommendation (or fails to act while the rule is under JCRAR's jurisdiction), Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(c) bars an agency from promulgating the proposed rule. While the rule is under JCRAR's jurisdiction, that legislative committee has two options for vetoing it: a regular "objection" under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d) or an "indefinite objection" under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm).

JCRAR may lodge a regular objection under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d), which empowers JCRAR to "object to a proposed rule or a part of a proposed rule." After JCRAR makes a regular objection, it must introduce a bill in each house of the Legislature to "support" the objection. Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(e). The agency "may not promulgate the proposed rule or part of the proposed rule objected to until a bill introduced under par. (e) fails to be enacted." Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d). If such a bill becomes law, the proposed rule cannot be promulgated unless a later law authorizes it. See Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(f). If, however, the bills are defeated or otherwise fail to be enacted¹, the agency can promulgate the rule. See Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(f). Although Wis. Stat. § 227.19 includes some time limits regarding the required bills, there is no requirement that the full Legislature ever vote on them. See Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(e), (6)(b).

JCRAR can also "indefinitely object" to a proposed rule under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm). If JCRAR does so, "the agency may not promulgate the proposed rule or part of the proposed rule objected to until a bill introduced under par. (em) is enacted." Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm); see also Wis. Stat.

¹ If both houses of the Legislature do not pass one of these bills by the end of the last floor period in a two-year legislative session, they automatically fail to be enacted (like all other bills). *See* Rule 83(4)(a), Joint Rules of the Wisconsin Legislature.

§ 227.19(5)(fm). The Legislature "may" introduce such a bill, but it need not do so. Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(em).

For either type of objection, JCRAR must offer one of six reasons for its objection: an "absence of statutory authority"; an "emergency relating to public health, safety, or welfare"; a "failure to comply with legislative intent"; a "conflict with state law"; a "change in circumstances" since the enactment of the law authorizing rulemaking; "arbitrariness and capriciousness"; or the "imposition of an undue hardship." Wis. Stat. § 227.19(4)(d); see also Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d) (cross-referencing section 227.19(4)(d)), 227.19(5)(dm)) (same).²

B. JCRAR may suspend promulgated rules unlimited times under Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(d) and (im).

If a rule survives the objection process, it may be promulgated and go into effect. But, under Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(d), JCRAR may then suspend the rule, citing one or more of the reasons specified in Wis. Stat. § 227.19(4)(d).

Such a rule remains suspended while JCRAR takes executive action and each house of the Legislature introduces a bill to support the suspension. Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(f). If such a bill becomes law, "the rule is repealed and may not be promulgated again unless a subsequent law specifically authorizes such action." Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(i). As with "regular" objections to rules pre-promulgation, Wis. Stat. § 227.26 sets some timelines for these bills, but there is no requirement that the full Legislature ever vote on them. Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(f), (h), (j).

17

² For regulations relating to dwellings, JCRAR may proffer a seventh reason to reject a rule: that it would increase the cost of constructing or remodeling a dwelling more than \$1,000. Wis. Stat. § 227.19(4)(d)7.

Prior to 2018, if both bills failed to be enacted, the rule would again take effect, and the committee could not suspend it again. See Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(i). But Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(im), added through 2017 Act 369 now provides that JCRAR "may act to suspend a rule as provided under this subsection multiple times."

C. These JCRAR veto powers have been constitutionally controversial for decades.

Constitutional controversy has dogged these JCRAR veto provisions since they were first proposed in the 1950s.³

In 1953, the Legislature first enacted a provision allowing itself to veto an administrative rule by joint resolution. See Wis. Stat. § 227.031 (1953-54). Shortly thereafter, Attorney General Vernon Thompson issued an opinion concluding that the provision was unconstitutional. See 43 Wis. Op. Att'y Gen. 350 (1954); (Pet. App. 87). His opinion rested on two key premises: (1) "adopted rules and regulations of administrative agencies have the force and effect of law"; and (2) "any legislative act which constitutes law must be enacted by a bill and it must have the style of an enactment as there prescribed." Id. at 353-54; (Pet. App. 90–91). Because the joint resolutions repealed administrative modifying legal rules—thereby obligations—without following constitutional bill-passing procedures, the Attorney General opined that they were unconstitutional. Id. at 359–60; (Pet. App. 96–97).

Apparently in response to the Attorney General's opinion, the Legislature promptly repealed this veto provision as part of an overhaul of chapter 227's rulemaking

³ Much of this historical overview is drawn from research done by Michael Duchek of the Legislative Reference Bureau. See Legislative Power to Suspend Administrative Rules: A Historical Look, Wisconsin Lawyer (Sept. 2024).

18

procedures. See 1955 Wis. Act 221, § 12. As part of this overhaul, the Legislature created JCRAR but gave it "advisory powers only." See id. § 13 (creating Wis. Stat. § 227.041 (1955–56)).

In 1963, the Legislature sought to expand JCRAR's power by allowing it to invalidate rules; Attorney General George Thompson, citing his predecessor's opinion, again concluded that such a provision would be unconstitutional. See 52 Wis. Op. Att'y Gen. 423 (1963); (Pet. App. 98). In his view, such a provision would improperly "attempt[] a change in law by repeal of or change in administrative rules by other than the enactment of a bill." *Id.* at 424; (Pet. App. 99). The proposed bill failed to pass.

In 1965, legislators introduced a proposed constitutional amendment that would have expressly allowed JCRAR to suspend administrative rules. 1965 S.J.R. 72; (Pet. App. 47–48). This measure also never passed.

But the next year, in 1966, the Legislature granted JCRAR such a power by statute. See 1965 Wis. Act 659, § 2 (creating Wis. Stat. § 13.56(2) (1967–68)). For the first time, by a supermajority vote⁴, JCRAR could suspend promulgated administrative rules. The provision included bill-introduction provisions like the ones that exist today. See Wis. Stat. § 13.56(2) (1967–68). Attorney General Warren issued a series of opinions concluding that this provision was unconstitutional, for largely the same reasons as his predecessors. See 63 Wis. Op. Att'y Gen. 159 (1974); id. at 168; id. at 173; (Pet. App. 101, 110, 115).

Yet the Legislature continued to expand JCRAR's power, allowing it to object to proposed rules in addition to suspending promulgated ones. The Legislature first tried to

⁴ This was later reduced to a majority vote requirement. *See* 1973 Wis. Act 162, § 1.

add such a power in 1977, but Governor Schreiber vetoed it due to both "practical and constitutional" concerns. (Pet. App. 50.) The Legislature tried again, accomplishing its goal in the 1979 budget bill. Governor Dreyfus partially vetoed the JCRAR objection provisions, again citing "basic separation of powers" concerns with "legislators want[ing] to become administrators." (Pet. App. 61.) But the Legislature overrode his veto, and the provisions took effect. See 1979 Wis. Act 34, § 1019ua (creating Wis. Stat. § 227.018(5) (1979–80)).5

The Legislature has since increased JCRAR's power even further. In 2017, through the "Regulations from the Executive in Need of Scrutiny" (or "REINS") Act, the Legislature added the indefinite objection statutes, Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm), (em), and (fm). See 2017 Wis. Act 57, §§ 28–29, 31. And in 2018, the Legislature empowered JCRAR to suspend rules multiple times. See 2017 Wis. Act 369, § 64.

II. JCRAR uses its veto powers to block and suspend two DSPS administrative rules.

DSPS and the Board have administrative rulemaking authority in two areas that have recently triggered JCRAR's exercise of its veto power: rules that set commercial building standards; and rules establishing ethics standards for social workers, marriage and family therapists, and professional counselors.

A. indefinitely DSPS's **JCRAR** objects to rule revising state's proposed the commercial building standards.

Under various provisions of Wis. Stat. ch 101, DSPS is responsible for developing and updating the commercial building standards contained in Wis. Admin. Code. chs. SPS

⁵ These new provisions generally tracked the "regular" objection provisions now found in Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d), (e), and (f).

361–366. These rules protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public by establishing minimum standards for the design, construction, maintenance, and inspection of public buildings, including multifamily dwellings and places of employment. See Wis. Admin. Code SPS § 361.01.

In 2020, DSPS initiated rulemaking efforts to update the commercial building standards and bring them into compliance with current building standards.⁶ DSPS and the Commercial Building Code Council⁷ held numerous meetings to draft and review the proposed rule. DSPS completed its work on the proposed rule and submitted it to the Legislature for review in May 2023. (Pet. App. 24, 33 (Pet. ¶¶ 52, 76).)

In an executive session held September 29, 2023, JCRAR voted 6-4 to indefinitely object to the rule under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm). Its proffered reasons included a failure to comply with legislative intent, a conflict with state law, arbitrary and capricious action, and a supposedly "deficient" economic impact analysis. (Pet. App. 33 (Pet. ¶¶ 77–78).) The Legislature has not passed a bill authorizing this rule, and so it has not been promulgated.

⁶ Wisconsin's commercial building standards must comply with various federal laws, including the Fair Housing Act, Americans with Disabilities Act, and federal statutes relating to energy conservation. Relatedly, DSPS is statutorily obligated to regularly update energy conservation standards. *See* Wis. Stat. § 101.027(2)–(3).

⁷ DSPS must consult with the Commercial Building Code Council in designing these rules. *See* Wis. Stat. § 101.023. The Council is a statutory body that includes representatives from building-related professions: skilled tradespeople; building inspectors; firefighters; building contractors; architects; engineers; and designers. *See* Wis. Stat. § 15.407(18).

B. JCRAR temporarily objects to the proposed conversion therapy rule and then suspends it after promulgation.

DSPS and its attached boards regulate various licensed professions, including social workers, marriage and family therapists, and professional counselors. *See* Wis. Stat. § 15.405(7c); Wis. Stat. ch. 457. As part of its duties, the Board must promulgate administrative rules that establish ethics standards for people licensed in these professions. *See* Wis. Stat. § 457.03(2). The Board has carried out this statutory responsibility through Wis. Admin. Code ch. MPSW 20.

In 2019 and 2020, the Board proposed an administrative rule that would have updated these ethics standards. One provision would have defined as unethical conduct employing or promoting any intervention or method with the purpose of attempting to change a person's sexual orientation or gender identity. *See* Wis. Admin. Code MPSW § 20.02(25). In February 2020, the Board completed its work on the proposed rule and submitted it to the Legislature for review. (Pet. App. 26 (Pet. ¶ 56).)

In an executive session held June 25, 2020, JCRAR considered the rule. JCRAR first voted on whether to indefinitely object to the rule under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(dm). After deadlocking 5-5, it voted 6-4 to make a regular objection under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(d). (Pet. App. 34 (Pet. ¶ 80).)

The rule sat blocked, waiting for legislative action. Nearly six months later, in late January 2021, JCRAR introduced two bills in support of its objection: 2021 Assembly Bill 14 and 2021 Senate Bill 31.8 The bills were referred to committees in the respective chambers. The bills were placed

⁸ JCRAR was entitled to wait this long under Wis. Stat. § 227.19(5)(g), which covers bill-introduction procedures when the Legislature is out of session.

Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 23 of 53

on the calendar of each house for further consideration on March 16, 2021. Rather than vote on the bills, both houses referred them back to committees. (Pet. App. 35 (Pet. ¶ 81).)

About one year later, both bills terminated without further action at the end of the legislative session's last general-business floor period. The failure of the bills to be enacted finally lifted JCRAR's objection to the rule, nearly two years after the committee lodged a regular objection. (Pet. App. 35 (Pet. ¶ 82).) On November 28, 2022, the proposed rule was published in Wisconsin Administrative Register No. 803, and it took effect on December 1, 2022. (Pet. App. 36 (Pet. ¶ 83).)

Less than six weeks later, on January 12, 2023, JCRAR held an executive session and, by a 6-4 vote, used its authority under Wis. Stat. § 227.26(2)(d) to suspend Wis. Admin. Code MPSW § 20.02(25), the portion of the rule defining interventions with the aim of attempting to change a person's sexual orientation or gender identity as unethical. (Pet. App. 36 (Pet. ¶ 84).)

The legislative process began again. About a month later, JCRAR introduced two bills to support its suspension of the rule: 2023 Assembly Bill 3 and 2023 Senate Bill 4. The bills were referred to a committee in each house, placed on the calendar in both houses in mid-March 2023, and, without an up-or-down vote, referred back to a committee. (Pet. App. 36 (Pet. ¶ 85).) Over one year later, both bills terminated without further action at the end of the legislative session's last general-business floor period. The rule then took effect.

⁹ State of Wis. Assembly J. (Corrected Copy), Wis. State Legis., https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/assembly/20240415/_9 (last visited Nov. 7, 2024); State of Wis. Assembly J., Wis. State Legis., https://docs.legis.wisconsin.gov/2023/related/journals/senate/20240415/_11 (last visited Nov. 7, 2024).

Case 2023AP002020 Brief of Petitioner Filed 11-08-2024 Page 24 of 53

During the more-than-four years between when the Board first submitted the proposed rule to JCRAR in February 2020 and when the temporary suspension lifted in April 2024, this rule was in effect for less than six weeks. The Legislature never voted to pass a bill blocking the rule or presented such a bill to the Governor for his signature or veto.

ARGUMENT

I. JCRAR's rulemaking vetoes violate constitutional bicameralism and presentment requirements.

When the legislative branch alters the legal rights and duties of others, it must do so by passing a bill through both houses and presenting it to the Governor for his signature—bicameralism and presentment. JCRAR's rulemaking vetoes are facially invalid because they fail to follow those requirements.

A. When the legislative branch alters legal rights and duties, it must do so through a law enacted via bicameralism and presentment.

Given their fear of legislative overreach, the Framers of both the U.S. and Wisconsin constitutions created a "crucible" that "bills must overcome to become law": bicameralism and presentment. *Becker v. Dane County*, 2022 WI 63, ¶ 101, 403 Wis. 2d 424, 977 N.W.2d 390 (Bradley, R., J., dissenting).

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