FILED 03-13-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### No. 2023AP2020-OA

# In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin

TONY EVERS, GOVERNOR OF WISCONSIN, DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES, BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN SYSTEM, DEPARTMENT OF SAFETY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES, and MARRIAGE AND FAMILY THERAPY, PROFESSIONAL COUNSELING, AND SOCIAL WORK EXAMINING BOARD, PETITIONERS,

υ.

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. Wis. Stat. §§ 23.0917(6m) And (8)(g)3 Are Facially Constitutional Under *Martinez* And *Ahern*

"There is a strong presumption that a legislative enactment is constitutional." Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 695 (quoting State v. Sher, 149 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 437 N.W.2d 878 (1989)). "A 'facial' challenge to the constitutionality of a statute means that the challenger must establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there are no possible applications or interpretations of the statute which would be constitutional." State v. Cole, 2003 WI 112, ¶ 30, 264 Wis. 2d 250, 665 N.W.2d 328 (citation omitted). Any doubt "must be resolved in favor of constitutionality." Chappy v. LIRC, 136 Wis. 2d 172, 185, 401 N.W.2d 568 (1987) (citation omitted). Petitioners have brought a facial challenge, not a more limited as-applied challenge, requiring them to show that the challenged cannot lawfully "be enforced provisions ʻunder circumstances." Mayo v. Wis. Injured Patients & Fams. Comp. Fund, 2018 WI 78, ¶ 33, 383 Wis. 2d 1, 914 N.W.2d 678

Page 24 of 57

(citation omitted). As the Legislature explains below, Sections 23.0917(6m) and (8)(g)3survive the facial constitutional challenge here.

A.1. The Wisconsin Constitution "vest[s] legislative power in the assembly and senate, executive power in the governor and lieutenant governor, and judicial power in the courts, respectively." Ahern, 114 Wis. 2d at 101 (citation Pursuant to Wisconsin's unique "implicit[]" omitted). doctrine of separation of powers, a branch violates the ofpowers when it "interferes separation with constitutionally guaranteed 'exclusive zone' of authority vested in another branch." Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 696–97 Outside of this "exclusive zone," (citations omitted). "Wisconsin courts interpret the Constitution as requiring shared and merged powers," "rather than an absolute, rigid and segregated political design." *Id.* (citation omitted). Under shared powers, "one branch of government may exercise power conferred on another," so long as it "does not unduly burden or substantially interfere with the other branch's role and power." Id. at 696 (citation omitted). As Ahern explained, this Court has applied the separation of powers "liberally" in the shared powers context, explaining that the Constitution "envisions a government of separated branches sharing certain powers." 114 Wis. 2d at 102–03 (quoting State v. Holmes, 106 Wis. 2d 31, 43, 315 N.W.2d 703 (1982)). This Court in *Martinez* cited with approval *Ahern*'s

"liberally applied" characterization of this Court's approach. 165 Wis. 2d at 701 n.13 (quoting *Ahern*, 114 Wis. 2d at 102).

This Court has identified several core powers of the Legislature and the Governor in determining the limits of Wisconsin's "liberally applied" separation-of-powers doctrine. *Id.* "[T]he legislature is tasked with the enactment of laws," while the Governor must "take care that the laws be faithfully executed." *Serv. Emps. Int'l Union, Local 1* ("SEIU") v. Vos, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 31, 393 Wis. 2d 38, 946 N.W.2d 35 (citing Wis. Const. art. IV, § 17; *id.* art. V, § 4). So, while the Legislature's core lawmaking power cannot be delegated to any other branch, the Legislature may delegate to "agencies . . . the power to promulgate rules within the boundaries of enabling statutes passed by the legislature." *Koschkee v. Taylor*, 2019 WI 76, ¶ 15, 387 Wis. 2d 552, 929 N.W.2d 600 (citations omitted).

The Constitution also charges the Legislature with maintaining the State's spending power over both the State's sovereign expenses, Wis. Const. art. VIII, § 2, and "other sources of income," *id.* § 5. Thus, the Constitution "empower[s] the legislature . . . to make policy decisions regarding . . . spending" for the State, *Flynn v. Dep't of Admin.*, 216 Wis. 2d 521, 540, 576 N.W.2d 245 (1998), while the Legislature's general lawmaking authority includes the "power to spend the [S]tate's money by enacting laws," *SEIU*, 2020 WI 67, ¶¶ 68–69 (citing Wis. Const. art. IV, § 17).

Agencies have no "exclusive zone" of constitutional authority under Wisconsin's system of separation of powers. Rather, because "the legislative branch and the executive branch share inherent interests in the legislative creation and oversight of administrative agencies," any consideration of "the 'exclusive zone' of authority is not relevant" to agencies. *Martinez*, 165 Wis. 2d at 697. In other words, because "agencies are creations of the legislature" and "can exercise only those powers granted by the legislature," burdens or limits imposed on their authority are viewed as either outside the traditional separation-of-powers analysis, or require only a check to ensure "adequate standards for conducting the allocated power are in place." Id. (citations omitted); see also Koschkee, 2019 WI 76, ¶ 14. Since the "very existence of [an] administrative agency . . . is dependent upon the will of the legislature . . . [a]n administrative agency does not stand on the same footing as a [constitutionally created branch of government] when considering the doctrine of separation of powers." Schmidt v. Dep't of Res. Dev., 39 Wis. 2d 46, 56–57, 158 N.W.2d 306 (1968).

2. Given the unique relationship between the Legislature and administrative agencies, both this Court and the Court of Appeals have long interpreted the Constitution to allow legislative oversight of agency actions. As scholars have explained, "[c]ourts in . . . Wisconsin have explicitly authorized stronger legislative oversight than other states." Rossi, *supra*, 52 Vand. L. Rev. at 1209. For over 40 years,

Case 2023AP002020

beginning with the Court of Appeals' decision in Ahern and continuing with this Court's decision in *Martinez*, Wisconsin's jurisprudence has acknowledged a system of shared powers, including broad legislative committee authority to oversee agency actions.

In *Ahern*, the plaintiffs challenged the constitutionality of the State Building Commission—a legislative committee comprising "three assemblymen, three senators, the governor (who serves as chairperson), and a citizen appointee of the governor"—as violating the separation of powers. 114 Wis. 2d The plaintiffs argued that the Building at 99–100. 106. Commission's authority to "select sites for public buildings, to administer construction of such buildings[,] to lease the buildings," "waive the and to competitive bidding construction requirements" on projects amounted "executive powers" that only the Governor could exercise. *Id.* at 100. The Court of Appeals rejected this rigid understanding of Wisconsin's doctrine of implied separation of powers, explaining that the Constitution envisions a "pragmatic approach" that "permits a blending or sharing of powers among the three branches of government," only "subject to the limitation against 'unchecked power." at 101, 103-04 (citation omitted). Ahern acknowledged that the Commission's "right of prior approval over construction contracts" granted it "immense control over state construction" and was "an executive power," thereby permitting the majority legislative members of the Building

Commission "to exercise executive powers to the exclusion of the executive branch," but held that this did not "violate the separation" of powers. *Id.* at 104–07. Because the Governor could also exercise a veto to stop a construction project that the legislative members wanted to approve, the Court of Appeals held that this framework was a "cooperative venture between the two governmental branches" that did not violate the separation of powers. *Id.* at 108.

Then, in *Martinez*, this Court specifically relied upon Ahern's separation-of-powers reasoning in further affirming the constitutionality of legislative committees' reviews of agency actions. There, the Department of Industry, Labor and Human Relations ("DILHR") promulgated a rule that "created a new category of employee to whom employers could pay, for a 120-day repeating probationary period, a subminimum wage of twenty cents an hour less than the regular minimum wage," but JCRAR voted to suspend and amend the rule by shortening the probationary period to three days. Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 692–93. Interpreting the Constitution's "implicit[]" separation of powers and rejecting the approaches of other "states that apply 'express' separation of powers provisions," this Court held that JCRAR's authority to suspend a rule was constitutional because "[i]t is appropriate for the legislature to delegate rule-making authority to an agency while retaining the right to review any rules promulgated under the delegated power," and "a legitimate practice for the legislature, through JCRAR, to

retain the ability to suspend a rule which is promulgated in derogation of the delegated authority." *Id.* at 696, 698, 700–01 (citations omitted). Although the Court noted that a full legislative process was necessary to "make permanent a rule suspension," such "full involvement of both houses of the legislature and the governor" was not needed for JCRAR's temporary rule suspension at issue. *Id.* at 699–700.

Finally, in SEIU, this Court unanimously reaffirmed Martinez's holding on this point, reiterating the conclusion that the Legislature maintains the constitutional authority to review agency rulemaking and suspend rules after the agency promulgates them. 2020 WI 67, ¶¶ 78–83. After citing "the framework" of Martinez and Ahern explicitly, the Court held that Act 36, § 64—"which allows [JCRAR] to suspend a rule more than once"—was also facially unconstitutional, including because it "fits comfortably with the unchallenged reasoning of Martinez." Id. ¶¶ 75, 78–83.

In all, *Ahern* and *Martinez* (and *SEIU*) held that the Wisconsin Constitution envisions cooperative action between the branches, including legislative oversight of agency actions in all instances except those involving truly *core* executive powers. The Constitution "permits a blending or sharing of powers," only "subject to the limitation against 'unchecked power." *Ahern*, 114 Wis. 2d at 103 (citation omitted). The Legislature and Governor may enter into "cooperative venture[s] between the two governmental branches," even if such ventures would allow the Legislature to, from time to

time, "exercise executive powers to the exclusion of the executive branch." Id. at 107–08. Thus, Wisconsin's separation of powers allows "the legislature to delegate rule-making authority to an agency while retaining the right to review any rules promulgated under the delegated power," and "it is a legitimate practice for the legislature, through [a joint committee], to retain the ability to suspend [agency action] which is promulgated in derogation of the delegated authority." Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 698, 701. And, in suspending such action, the joint committee need not comply with bicameralism and presentment. Id. at 699–701; see generally Ahern, 114 Wis. 2d 69.

B. Applying these principles to the present case, JCF's authority to review certain actions by DNR under Knowles-Nelson is constitutional. The Program authorizes DNR to acquire land or provide local governments grants to acquire land across the State for use in outdoor recreation and to protect environmentally sensitive areas. Supra pp.18-19. JCF may review DNR's decisions in two scenarios. Supra pp.21–22. First, whenever DNR seeks to expend or encumber more than \$250,000 for a project, DNR must submit that plan to JCF for a 14-day passive-review process. Wis. Stat. Second, JCF must approve any § 23.0917(5m), (6m). acquisition of land outside the boundaries of the stewardship projects that existed on or before May 1, 2013. Wis. Stat. § 23.0917(8)(g)3. Both of these JCF review provisions survive

Petitioners' facial separation-of-powers challenge under *Martinez* and *Ahern*.

1. As an initial matter, JCF's review authority falls within the borderlands of shared powers under Wisconsin's separation-of-powers doctrine. DNR, like all agencies, was Wis. Stat. § 15.34. created by statute. Therefore, "the legislative branch and the executive branch share inherent interests in the legislative creation and oversight of administrative agencies," so any concern about "exclusive zone[s]' of authority is not relevant" in this case, since DNR cannot maintain any such exclusive zone of authority independent of the Legislature's constitutionally permitted Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 697; see Wis. Stat. oversight. §§ 23.0917(6m), (8)(g)3. Indeed, the Program creates a "compulsory unanimity" between DNR and the Legislature in the approval of certain encumbrances and expenditures on land, which "compulsory unanimity" is necessarily a shared power. Ahern, 114 Wis. 2d at 108. Under both Wis. Stat. § 23.0917(6m) and Wis. Stat. § 23.0917(8)(g)3, DNR is prohibited from "obligating funds" for particular purposes without JCF review, but DNR is solely responsible for bringing proposals to JCF. So, both JCF and DNR require the other to agree to a Knowles-Nelson project, thus creating the "compulsory unanimity" discussed in Ahern. 114 Wis. 2d at 108.

Even if JCF's review authority could possibly invade an executive-branch power in some instances, it is necessarily a

shared power in numerous others, given the Legislature's constitutional power of the purse. The Wisconsin Constitution authorizes the Legislature to maintain the State's spending power over both sovereign expenses, Wis. Const. art. VIII, § 2, and "other sources of income," id. art. VIII, § 5. Put another way, "the constitution gives the legislature the general power to spend the state's money by enacting laws." SEIU, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 69. This Court has recognized that the Legislature has a more general "interest in the expenditure of state funds" which in SEIU provided the means to "justify the authority to approve certain settlements" proposed by DOJ. Id.

The JCF review provisions at issue here are part of the Legislature's constitutional authority over "the expenditure of state funds," id., and the public fisc more generally, Wis. Const. art. VIII, §§ 2, 5. To that end, Wis. Stat. §§ 23.0917 (6m), which requires DNR to clear passive review by the JCF, applies only to expenditures exceeding a high dollar amount— \$250,000—implicating the Legislature's "interest in the expenditure of state funds," given the high-value sums at stake. SEIU, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 69. Then, Wis. Stat. § 23.0917(8)(g)3 requires DNR to receive affirmative approval for purchases in new areas not already covered by the Program—significant expenditures that similarly invoke the Legislature's "interest in the expenditure of state funds," SEIU, 2020 WI 67, ¶ 69, given that the expansion of the

Knowles-Nelson Program to new lands is also likely to require substantial outlays.

Since JCF's review authority is a shared power between the branches, at least in some applications, it is constitutional for all the reasons this Court and the Court of Appeals unanimously upheld the legislative review provisions in Martinez and Ahern-namely that they amount to a "cooperative venture between the two governmental branches," Ahern, 114 Wis. 2d at 107-08, which include "proper standards or safeguards," Martinez, 165 Wis. 2d at 701 (citation omitted). The Knowles-Nelson Program's JCF review procedures impose the same sort of "compulsory unanimity" that serves to make the Program "a cooperative venture between the two governmental branches," Ahern, 114 Wis. 2d at 108, that *Ahern* found constitutional.

Notably, *Ahern* rejected the argument that the Building Commission's prior approval right over construction contracts was the same as "administering' the construction of state buildings." Id. at 105. Instead, the Court of Appeals held that prior approval is the "right solely to prevent construction not meeting the commission's approval at the contract stage, not a right to administer or supervise the construction itself." *Id.* So, even while construction projects and the right to approve and deny them were deemed "an executive function," the Commission's power requiring the unanimous consent of the governor and legislators was shared. Id. at 105-06. JCF review provisions for Knowles-Nelson projects are

constitutional for much the same reasons: JCF does not administer Knowles-Nelson projects, but only has the shared power of passive review. And, at most, there is compulsory unanimity between the branches for certain Knowles-Nelson projects because DNR must select projects and JCF must approve them. See Wis. Stat. §§ 23.0917(6m)(a), (8)(g)3. Therefore, JCF's review of Knowles-Nelson projects is a shared power with cooperative input from both branches.

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